Canadian **Journal** of **Health** Technologies



December 2021 Volume 1 Issue 12

CADTH Horizon Scan

Adaptive Deep Brain Stimulation for the Treatment of Parkinson Disease and Essential Tremor



Authors: Kwakye Peprah, Jennifer Horton

ISSN: 2563-6596

Disclaimer: The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policymakers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up to date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein are those of CADTH and do not necessarily represent the views of Canada's federal, provincial, or territorial governments or any third-party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk.

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian *Copyright Act* and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

About CADTH: CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

Questions or requests for information about this report can be directed to Requests@CADTH.ca



Table of Contents

Key Messages	5
Percept PC: A New Frontier for Deep Brain Stimulation Adaptability in the Treatment of Parkinson Disease and Essential Tremors	5
How It Works	6
Who Might Benefit?	7
Availability in Canada	7
What Does It Cost?	8
Current Practice	8
What Is the Evidence?	8
Safety	9
Issues to Consider	
Related Developments	9
Looking Ahead	10
References	



List	of	Fi	g	ur	es
			\sim		

Eiguro 1 · D	Paraget DC Maura	otimulator		6
riuule 1. F	Tercebi FC Neuro	Sumulator	 	



Key Messages

- Horizon Scan reports provide brief summaries of information regarding new and emerging health technologies; Heath Technology Update articles typically focus on a single device or intervention
- These technologies are identified through the CADTH Horizon Scanning Service as topics of potential interest to health care decision-makers in Canada.
- This Horizon Scan summarizes the available information regarding an emerging technology, Percept PC Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS) system with BrainSense technology, for the treatment of Parkinson disease and essential tremors.

Percept PC: A New Frontier for Deep Brain Stimulation Adaptability in the Treatment of Parkinson Disease and Essential Tremors

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is an invasive neurosurgical therapy for patients with movement disorders such as Parkinson disease, essential tremor, and dystonia whose symptoms are inadequately controlled with usual therapies. 1.2 Other indications for DBS include depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, Tourette syndrome, epilepsy, cluster headache and chronic pain, including pain from stroke, amputation, trigeminal neuralgia, and multiple sclerosis. The procedure involves implanting electrodes in the brain to deliver electrical stimulation using an implanted battery source called an impulse generator. DBS is known to induce biological changes, such as neurophysiological, neurochemical, neurovascular, neurogenic, and neuro-oscillatory effects. However, the exact mechanism by which it works to improve movement disorders is unclear. Proposals put forward to explain the effects of DBS include the inhibition hypothesis and the jamming hypothesis. The inhibition hypothesis proposes that DBS exerts a dampening effect on overactive neurons, whereas the jamming hypothesis suggests that DBS disrupts communication pathways, including reversing the direction of the brainwaves (i.e., induction of antidromic excitation in afferent axons).

In a traditional DBS procedure, a neurologist programs the stimulation parameters after a surgeon has placed stimulating electrodes in the brain targeting the part of the brain associated with the disorder. The locations of the electrodes' targets are determined using preoperative imaging techniques. 5 Based on microelectrode recording, patient-reported baseline stimulation effects, and the neurologist's experience, both of which are subjective, the neurologist selects pulse-width, current or voltage amplitude, and frequency of the stimulation to control patients' symptoms while minimizing over-stimulation that may lead to undesirable side effects.5 Standard DBS is delivered continuously, and adjustments are made manually by a trained clinician based on a patient's changing symptoms.⁶ This means that patients may be exposed to unnecessary intensive energy that may result in stimulationinduced side effects. 5.6 Thus, a more objective approach to detect and analyze patient-specific biomarkers and adjust stimulation based on the responses of these biomarkers could enhance the therapeutic benefit of DBS while minimizing side effects. The Percept PC is the first authorized DBS device capable of delivering electrical stimulations while recording electrophysiological changes at the target location in the brain.^{5,7} Percept PC is an adaptive DBS (aDBS) device, meaning it can deliver electrical stimulations based on fluctuations of the brain signals (local field potential [LFP]) at the target structure.7



How It Works

Abnormal brain electrical activity (i.e., abnormal brainwave), represented by specific frequency bands, have been identified as electrophysiological biomarkers in patients with movement disorders.⁵ For example, Parkinson disease is correlated with oscillations in the beta power band (8 Hz to 30 Hz) in the subthalamic nucleus (STN),^{1,2,5,8,9} whereas essential tremor correlates with theta-alpha oscillations (4 Hz to 14 Hz) within the ventral intermediate nucleus of the thalamus (VIM),^{5,8,10,11}

The general outlay of Percept PC is like other DBS systems, consisting of DBS electrodes, extension wires, and an implantable pulse generator (IPG) (Figure1).² The IPG (also called neurostimulator), powered by a hybrid silver vanadium oxide battery, generates an electric current that travels through the extension wire to the DBS electrodes, placed to effect stimulation at a set frequency in a specific location in the brain responsible for the disease symptoms.^{2,5} The system can be configured to work within and outside a clinic. Signals can

₽ ■ ≥ \$ ₹ 4 98% 5:23 PM ← DEMO: EVENTS 公 SAMSUNG **Event LFP Snapshots** 0 t 📭 # ¥ ▲ 72% ■ 9:10 AM **EVENTS** Left STN Since Last Session Ð **Events** 23.44 Hz SELECT ALL CLEAR SELECTION Feeling On Took Medication, Jul 16, 2019, 17:18 Took Medication, Jul 24, 2019, 17:18 Feeling Off Took Medication, Aug 1, 2019, 17:18 Took Medication, Aug 9, 2019, 17:18 Took Medication, Aug 17, 2019, 17:18 Dyskinesia Took Medication, Aug 25, 2019, 17:18 Took Medication, Sep 2, 2019, 17:18 **Took Medication** GO HOME Meditronic Percept PC B35200

Figure 1: Percept PC Neurostimulator

©2021 Medtronic. All rights reserved. Used with the permission of Medtronic.



be surveyed and streamed continuously in the clinic, and the device can be programmed to record signals of interest continuously outside of the clinic across a 60-day timeline. The system can be connected to a user interface, such as a clinician programming tablet, communicator, and a patient controller. The setup allows the time-matching of signal changes to patient-recorded events that occur outside the clinic, such as inability to move in a normal way (dyskinesia), tremor, and rigidity. Thus, Percept PC facilitates condition-dependent stimulation and records symptom-related changes that may provide new insights into the pathophysiological mechanisms of a disease. Therefore, the device would allow the clinician to track patient-specific biomarkers over time and individualize DBS treatment for improved patient outcomes.

Like other DBS devices, the Percept PC delivers high-frequency stimulation to disrupt the local abnormal brainwave thereby blocking the patterns of activation that lead to symptoms of related diseases. Standard DBS does not adjust to varying conditions, such as short- or long-term changes in disease severity, including medication-related fluctuation.¹² The uniqueness of the Percept PC is in its ability for programming to identify the baseline brain state (without stimulation or medication), detect a specific brainwave (as a biomarker) associated with a patient's disease symptoms, and to adjust the DBS stimulation level based on the patient's symptoms. Thus, the neurologist can program a stimulation frequency range (therapeutic power band) that offers maximum symptomatic relief with minimal stimulation-induced side effects.^{1,5} The device is also able to sense and continually record the LFP at implanted DBS leads with or without stimulation.^{1,5} The enhanced abilities of the Percept PC are conferred by a proprietary technology called BrainSense technology.¹³

Compared with traditional DBS devices, the Percept PC stimulation is relatively insensitive to changes in the electrical properties (impedance) at the electrode-tissue interface, which have been reported to affect the quality of DBS readings.⁵

Who Might Benefit?

DBS is used to treat a wide variety of neurologic conditions.⁵ Because Percept PC allows the programming of different stimulation parameters for different symptoms, it can deliver stimulation in an individualized manner, offering the potential to achieve improved clinical efficacy with reduced side effects.⁵ Additionally, the ability to repeatedly record LFPs, both inside and outside of the clinic, provides clinicians and researchers with an unprecedented opportunity to advance understanding of the pathophysiology underlying neurologic and psychiatric disorders, such as major depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, schizophrenia, Alzheimer disease, and addiction.¹⁴

Availability in Canada

Health Canada licensed the Medtronic PLC Percept PC DBS system with BrainSense technology for use in Canada in October 2020.¹³ It is authorized for therapy for neurologic disorders associated with Parkinson disease, essential tremor, dystonia, or epilepsy.¹³ Data on the uptake of Percept PC in Canada were not identified. However, a 2018 assessment



reported that the rate of DBS surgery was significantly higher than the national average in Saskatchewan (374%) and significantly below the national average in Quebec (40%) and Newfoundland and Labrador (32%).¹⁵ Since the study predates the introduction of Percept PC, its referenced DBS procedures must have been performed using the traditional devices without the BrainSense capability of Percept PC. The paper's authors found no significant difference between the percentage of people receiving DBS from rural areas and the percentage of the entire provincial population living in rural areas.

What Does It Cost?

There was no data identified on the specific cost of Percept PC to treat Parkinson disease or essential tremor in Canada. However, it has been reported that DBS is more cost-effective than drug therapy for advanced Parkinson disease. ^{16,17} In the US, the cost of DBS implantation (i.e., surgery, devices, anesthesia, hospital fees, and physician fees) was estimated to be between \$70,000 and \$100,000 for bilateral procedures in 2018, whereas the cost of battery replacement varied from \$17,000 to \$27,000. ¹⁸

Current Practice

Currently, the treatment is delivered continuously in people who require DBS therapy, and trained clinicians manually adjust the settings based on symptoms. Thus, patients may be exposed to unnecessary intensive energy, which may induce side effects.⁶

What Is the Evidence?

One prospective single-arm study¹⁹ based on clinical and neurophysiological data from 20 patients (14 with Parkinson disease, 5 with dystonia, and 1 with chronic pain) treated with Percept PC found that the device could record and monitor the most clinically relevant biomarkers for Parkinson disease and dystonia. Further, a case report⁷ on a 51-year-old man with Parkinson disease observed that Percept PC successfully recorded and adapted stimulations to beta oscillation fluctuations while the patient was outside the hospital without any stimulation-induced side effects.⁷

One descriptive review of the engineering underlying the development of the Percept PC device reported that the system's ability and functionality to chronically record LFPs at implanted DBS leads was validated in 14 patients with neurological disorders. The recordings were reported to proceed continuously in the presence of stimulation with in-built adjustment to prevent stimulation artifact from interrupting the measure of brain state.

A prospective, single-blind, randomized crossover, multi-centre study in patients with Parkinson disease is under way to assess the adaptive DBS effectiveness of Percept PC. The estimated primary study completion is October 2022.²⁰



Safety

Side effects related to the therapy, device, or procedure can include (but are not limited to) intracranial hemorrhage, cerebral infarction, cerebrospinal fluid leak, pneumocephalus, seizures, surgical site complications, psychiatric and behavioural disorders, and device complications that may require surgical revision or removal of the implant.²¹

It has been reported that in October 2021, Medtronic issued an urgent field safety notice to health care providers in Europe that the Percept PC DBS implant may stop working and may need to be removed after a patient with an implant undergoes a cardioversion.²² If the device stops working, symptoms for which it was implanted are likely to return and may do so with greater intensity than before, resulting in a medical emergency in rare cases.²² The safety notice was issued to make health care providers and their patients aware of the possible risks of combining cardioversion and the Percept PC DBS implant, and weigh those risks against the benefits before implantation. The notice was also meant to inform patients already implanted with the Percept PC DBS device that it may need to be surgically replaced if they are due to undergo a cardioversion procedure.²² According to the report, Medtronic is in the process of adding information about the risks associated with cardioversion when using the Percept PC DBS device to its manual for prescribers.²²

Issues to Consider

The Percept PC system has not been compared with other such devices from an efficacy, efficiency, or cost-effectiveness standpoint. Also, there are no evidence-based recommendations for the use of individual devices in specific patient populations.^{2,19} It has been reported that critical aspects of concern related to the system, include background signal noise detection (artifact detection), data loss, and interference with or by other devices. Further, clinical effectiveness can be variable, with variation related to lead placement or a patient's unique physiology. 4 Moreover, DBS programming is complex and time-intensive, even for experienced neurologists.4 Given these challenges and the inherent risks and adverse events of the DBS procedure, clinical expertise in selecting suitable patients is likely to be essential, and a step-by-step, multidisciplinary team approach may be necessary to carefully make the determination. 18 DBS also commits patients to a lifelong implant, with subsequent battery replacements, which can be problematic in some patients, probably due to age and medical conditions. 14 Further, the highly resource intensive nature and need for an expert multidisciplinary team to provide programs for patients and troubleshoot issues may restrict the use of Percept PC (and DBS in general) to large-volume resource-rich centres that may pose accessibility and equity concerns. 14,18

Related Developments

Because of its sensing capabilities, Percept PC can enable better understanding of disease-related brain activity patterns, their evolution over time, and their modulation in response to therapies. ¹⁹ Thus, the device could allow the clinician to track patient-specific biomarkers over time and adjust treatment plans for improved patient outcomes in a variety



of conditions, while reducing the incidence of side effects due to imprecise stimulation.⁵ Apart from Parkinson disease, essential tremor, dystonia, and epilepsy, disorders currently under investigation with DBS include major depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, tinnitus, Tourette syndrome, schizophrenia, Alzheimer disease, pain, addiction, and anorexia nervosa.¹⁴

A double-blind crossover study to evaluate the safety and efficacy of another adaptive DBS device in patients with Parkinson disease is currently ongoing, with an estimated primary completion date of November 30th, 2021.²³

Looking Ahead

As noted, many of the challenges related to DBS technology, such as side effects and variable clinical effectiveness, may be due to suboptimal placement of DBS leads.⁵ That may be explained by the fact that the location of the brain responsible for a particular disease symptom is small, making it challenging to place DBS leads in the correct area for optimal outcomes.⁵ It is expected that advances in neuroimaging and biological signals will enhance DBS lead placement precision.^{2,4} As studies in the field advance, increasingly sophisticated imaging techniques may be discovered to improve the identification and validation of appropriate brain targets, and confirm circuit engagements within these targets, likely helping to simplify programming, and reduce programming times.⁴ Possibilities also exist for new technologies that will allow closed-loop neuromodulation therapies, capable of adapting stimulation-based real-time symptom-specific and task-dependent input signals.¹⁹



References

- 1. Cagle JN, Wong JK, Johnson KA, Foote KD, Okun MS, de Hemptinne C. Suppression and Rebound of Pallidal Beta Power: Observation Using a Chronic Sensing DBS Device. Front Hum Neurosci. 2021;15:749567. PubMed
- Jimenez-Shahed J. Device profile of the percept PC deep brain stimulation system for the treatment of Parkinson's disease and related disorders. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2021;18(4):319-332. PubMed
- 3. Pereira EAC GA, Nandi D, Aziz TZ. Deep brain stimulation: indications and evidence. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2007;4(5):591-603. PubMed
- Patel B, Chiu S, Wong JK, et al. Deep brain stimulation programming strategies: segmented leads, independent current sources, and future technology. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2021;18(9):875-891. PubMed
- 5. Goyal A, Goetz S, Stanslaski S, et al. The development of an implantable deep brain stimulation device with simultaneous chronic electrophysiological recording and stimulation in humans. *Biosens Bioelectron*. 2021;176:112888. PubMed
- Swann NC, de Hemptinne C, Thompson MC, et al. Adaptive deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease using motor cortex sensing. J Neural Eng. 2018;15(4):046006. PubMed
- 7. Nakajima A, Shimo Y, Fuse A, et al. Case Report: Chronic Adaptive Deep Brain Stimulation Personalizing Therapy Based on Parkinsonian State. Front Hum Neurosci. 2021;15:702961. PubMed
- 8. Shao MM, Liss A, Park YL, et al. Early Experience With New Generation Deep Brain Stimulation Leads in Parkinson's Disease and Essential Tremor Patients. Neuromodulation. 2020;23(4):537-542. PubMed
- 9. Delavallee M, Delaunois J, Ruwet J, Jeanjean A, Raftopoulos C. STN DBS for Parkinson's disease: results from a series of ten consecutive patients implanted under general anaesthesia with intraoperative use of 3D fluoroscopy to control lead placement. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2016;158(9):1783-1788. PubMed
- 10. He S, Debarros J, Khawaldeh S, et al. Closed-loop DBS triggered by real-time movement and tremor decoding based on thalamic LFPs for essential tremor. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. 2020:3602-3605.
- 11. Ferleger BI, Houston B, Thompson MC, et al. Fully implanted adaptive deep brain stimulation in freely moving essential tremor patients. *J Neural Eng.* 2020;17(5):056026. PubMed
- Graupe D, Khobragade N, Tuninetti D, Basu I, Slavin KV, Verhagen Metman L. Who May Benefit From On-Demand Control of Deep Brain Stimulation? Noninvasive Evaluation of Parkinson Patients. Neuromodulation. 2018;21(6):611-616. PubMed
- 13. Medtronic Canada ULC. Medtronic Receives Health Canada Licence for the First-of-Its-Kind Percept™ PC Neurostimulator with Brainsense™ Technology. 2020; https://www.newswire.ca/news-releases/medtronic-receives-health-canada-licence-for-the-first-of-its-kind-percept-tm-pc-neurostimulator-with-brainsense-tm-technology-856974226.html. Accessed 18 Nov 2021.
- 14. Lozano AM LN, Bergman H, Brown P, Chabardes S, Chang JW, Matthews K, McIntyre CC, Shlaeofer TE, Schulder M, Temel Y, Volkmann J, Krauss JK. Deep brain stimulation: current challenges and future directions. *Nat Rev Neurol.* 2019;15(3):148-160. PubMed
- 15. Honey CM, Malhotra AK, Tamber MS, Prud'homme M, Mendez I, Honey CR. Canadian Assessment of Deep Brain Stimulation Access: The Canada Study. Can J Neurol Sci. 2018;45(5):553-558. PubMed
- 16. Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease: A Review of Clinical Effectiveness, Cost Effectiveness, and Guidelines. Ottawa (ON): CADTH; 2018: https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/htis/2018/RC1049%20Deep%20Brain%20Stimulation%20for%20Parkinson%E2%80%99s%20Disease%20Final.pdf. Accessed 18 Nov 2021.
- DEEP BRAIN STIMULATION OR DUODOPA FOR ADVANCED PARKINSON DISEASE IN BRITISH COLUMBIA. Vancouver (BC): BC Health Technology Review Office; 2017: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/health/about-bc-s-health-care-system/heath-care-partners/health-authorities/bc-health-technology-assessments/deep-brain-stimulation.pdf. Accessed 5 Nov 2021.
- 18. Cabrera LY, Goudreau J, Sidiropoulos C. Critical appraisal of the recent US FDA approval for earlier DBS intervention. Neurology. 2018;91(3):133-136. PubMed
- 19. Thenaisie Y, Palmisano C, Canessa A, et al. Towards adaptive deep brain stimulation: clinical and technical notes on a novel commercial device for chronic brain sensing. *J Neural Eng.* 2021;18(4):31. PubMed
- 20. MedtronicNeuro. NCT04547712: Adaptive DBS Algorithm for Personalized Therapy in Parkinson's Disease (ADAPT-PD). ClinicalTrials.gov. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine: 2021: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04547712. Accessed 1 Nov 2021.
- 21. Percept PC with BrainSense and Sensight Brochure. Dublin (IE): Medtronic, Inc; 2021: https://www.parkinson.org/sites/default/files/2021-06/Percept%20PC%20with %20BrainSense%20and%20Sensight%20brochure.pdf. Accessed 1 Nov 2021.
- 22. Park A. Medtronic issues EU safety warning for Percept PC deep brain stimulation implant. 2021; https://www.fiercebiotech.com/medtech/medtronic-issues-eu-safety-warning-for-percept-pc-deep-brain-stimulation-implant. Accessed 15 Nov 2021.
- 23. Newronika. NCT04681534: Safety and Efficacy of Adaptive Deep Brain Stimulation. ClinicalTrials.gov. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine; 2021: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT04681534. Accessed 5 Nov 2021.